
Planning, Access and Rights of Way  - 15 December 2020 1

A G E N D A

8 December 2020

Dear Member,

A meeting of the PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY will be held 
remotely on Tuesday, 15th December, 2020 at 10.00 am when your attendance is 
requested.

Yours sincerely

Julian Atkins
Chief Executive

Please ensure you mute your microphone during the meeting until the Chair 
invites you to speak.  

Should there be a comfort break during the meeting please ensure your 
microphone is on mute and that your camera is switched off.

AGENDA

ENC1 Apologies for Absence 

ENC2 Chairman's Announcements 

ENC3 Declarations of Interest 

To receive any declarations of interest from members relating to items on the 
agenda.  Members’ attention is drawn to the sheet attached to the attendance 
sheet and the need to record their declarations verbally and in writing, 
specifying the nature of the interest.

 
If Members have declared an interest in an item please ensure that 
you inform the Chair when you are leaving the room, so that this can 
be recorded in the minutes
 

ENC4 Confirmed Minutes LAF 10th meeting 20th February 2020 (Pages 1 - 4)

ENC5 Minutes of last meeting (Pages 5 - 10)

Public Document Pack



Planning, Access and Rights of Way  - 15 December 2020 2

To authorise the Chairman to sign the Minutes of the Brecon Beacons National 
Park Authority Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee held on the 
22nd October 2020.

ENC6 Minutes of the Virtual Site Visit held on the 7th October 2020 (Pages 
11 - 12)

To authorise the Chairman to sign the Minutes of the Brecon Beacons National 
Park Authority Planning, Access and Rights of Way Site Visit held on the 7th 
October 2020.
 

ENC7 Development Control Reports for Decision 

Item 1  20/18999/MINOR Bailea Barn (Pages 13 - 18)

Item 2  20/19000/DISCON Bailea Barn (Pages 19 - 24)

ENC8 Development Control Related Matters for Noting 

Item 1  Delegated Decisions Report (Pages 25 - 30)

Item 2  Agricultural Notifications (Pages 31 - 32)

Item 3  Fringe Applications (Pages 33 - 34)

Item 4  Statutory Pre-applications Consultation (Pages 35 - 40)

Item 5  Appeals Report (Pages 41 - 46)

Item 6  Planning Obligation Report (Pages 47 - 48)

Item 7  Commuted Sums Report (Pages 49 - 52)

Item 8  Enforcement November 2020 figures (Pages 53 - 56)

Item 9  Development Management Statistics Nov 2020 (Pages 57 - 58)

ENC9 Development Control Related Matters for Decision 

Item 1  Tree Preservation Order 47, 2020 Yew Tree, Porthmawr Lodge, Crickhowell 
(Pages 59 - 64)

ENC10 Enforcement Reports 



Planning, Access and Rights of Way  - 15 December 2020 3

Access to Information
 
Resolved that pursuant to the provisions of Section 100A of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the Meeting for the 
following item of business on the grounds that there would be disclosure to 
them of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 12, 13, 17 and 18 of Part 
4 of Schedule 12A of the above Act and the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

Item 1  Exemption Certificate Enforcement Delegated Decision Reports (Pages 65 - 66)

Item 2  Enforcement Delegated Decisions - CONFIDENTIAL (Pages 67 - 74)



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park Local Access Forum 
Confirmed Minutes of the 10th Meeting held at 2pm on Thursday 20th February 2020 at 

BBNPA Offices, Brecon

Present
Ian Mabberley (IM) - Chairman
Richard Ball (RB) - Secretary
Pam Bell (PB) 
Philippa Cherryson (PC)
Stuart France (SF)
Debra Hughes (DH)
Ian Jenkins (IJ)
Hywel Morgan (HM)

Josie Pearson (JP)
Ruth Pickvance (RP)
Steve Rayner (SR)
Dave Sharman (DS)
Kathryn Whitrow (KW)
Colin Woodley (CW)  

Observers
Eifion Jones (EJ) Rights of Way Officer BBNPA 
Lisa Lloyd Rights of Way Assistant BBNPA 
Caroline Ferguson Carmarthenshire County Council
Rob Penn Million Trees for the Brecon Beacons Project
Keith Powell Million Trees for the Brecon Beacons Project
Freya Morgan Brecon to Hay Greenway

1. Welcome, Introductions and apologies
IM welcomed members and observers to the meeting. Apologies were received from Toby Veall, 
Tracy Purnell, Denis Murphy, Siôn James, Paul Sinnadurai and Sarah Tindal (NRW).

2. Confirmation of Minutes of 9th Meeting held on 13th November 2019
The minutes were accepted and the Chairman authorised to sign them as a correct record.

3. Matters arising not otherwise appearing on agenda
Llyn y Fan Fach – Still no response from Dŵr Cymru Welsh Water (DCWW), regarding the access 
at Llyn y Fan Fach. RB advised to contact the Managing Director or CEO.

Enabling Natural Resources and Well Being (ENRAW) – RB confirmed that Powys CC, BBNPA and 
Canal and Rivers Trust are hoping to resubmit a joint bid by the March deadline, PCC will be the lead 
partner.

SF suggested a future project to improve access along a 100m section of the A479 in Tretower. It 
would provide a safer link between Tretower and Cwmdu as the Trunk Roads would not consider 
improvements due to it not being within a 30mph area. RB suggested raising the issue with Powys CC.

4. Million Trees for the Brecon Beacons National Park project
IM welcomed Rob Penn (RP) and Keith Powell (KP) to the meeting. KP gave members an update on 
the Bryn Arw Woodland Creation following the LAF site visit In October 2018. The scheme is fully 
funded and planting of 175,000 native broadleaf trees is due to take place next winter, 2020/21. The 
Bryn Arw planting is being used as a pilot for the Million Trees for the Brecon Beacons National Park 
project. The project aims to plant a million trees on 400ha of private land in the National Park. £4.5 
million pounds needs to be raised from corporate sponsorship, crowd funding and micro finance 

Page 1

ENC4



initiatives in the local community. A charity called ‘Stump up for trees’ has been set up and it’s hoped 
that the project will be sustainable and replicable to other Communities.

It is planned to have an educational component and two local secondary schools have agreed to be 
involved in the Bryn Arw Pilot scheme. It is also planned to have other elements of public good in 
each planting area such as public access or targeted biodiversity improvements depending on the 
location. Woodland Trust have given 1 million trees to the project.

IM Thanked both KP and RP for attending the meeting.

5. Proposed Brecon to Hay cycle path (Brecon to Hay Greenway)

IM welcomed Freya Morgan (FM) to the meeting. FM gave a presentation to Members on the proposed 
Brecon to Hay Greenway. The proposal is looking at creating a traffic free path along the route of the 
Brecon to Hay Railway. An initial feasibility study was commissioned and carried out by Sustrans, it 
found that a large part of the line is intact and that there are grounds to continue with the project. 
The 25km route is owned by multiple landowners and they would need to look at how to secure 
access, there are also a number of sections where the line has been built over and alternative routes 
would need to be considered.

Following a public survey the group has decided to target the route in sections rather than as a whole. 
The first section they plan to look at is Talgarth to Three Cocks or Glasbury to Hay-on-Wye.

KW asked if consideration had been given to the increased liability and maintenance for landowners. 
FM agreed that arrangements for future maintenance of the route would need to be built into the 
strategy together with agreements over liabilities and other responsibilities.

CF recommended speaking to Carmarthenshire CC officers as they have been involved in the creation 
of the Tywi Valley Cycle Path.

RB suggested contacting Vincent Goodwin at Powys CC as he may be able to advise on Active Travel 
funding.

IJ asked how much the project would cost and what type of surface they envisage using. FM said that 
the preferred surface type would be tarmac as, although it’s more expensive it would last longer. The 
cost of the project would be in the region of £10m for the entire length of the route.

IM thanked FM for attending the LAF and giving the presentation.

6.Access Reform Advisory group (ARAG)
EJ is a member of the ARAG steering group established by the Welsh Government and explained the 
structure of the 3 expert groups looking at proposed access reforms. Group 1 is looking at the 
extension of rights on Access Land designated under the CROW Act. Group 2 is looking at changes 
to rights of way and group 3 is looking at digital mapping. Each group is made up of nine members, 
three each from the public sector, recreational sectors and landowner sectors. RB is a members of 
group 1 and LL is a member of group 3. The first meeting of the expert groups was in the first week 

Page 2



of February and further meeting are scheduled for March, July and November. The Steering group will 
take the findings of the expert groups and deliver recommendations to the Minister. 
RB and LL gave a brief update following the first expert group meetings.

7. Waterfall Country Update 
James Lawrence, BBNPA Visitor Management Officer, provided the LAF with a written update.

Comin Y Rhos
• A meeting between Commoners, landowners and BBNPA wardens in 2018 sought to 
understand concerns and find solutions to visitor pressure in the vicinity of Comin y Rhos – specifically 
in relation to peak visitor parking
• This resulted in a series of temporary interventions to limit visitors from verge parking at peak 
times which unchecked reduced the highway to a narrow single lane, causing commoners and local 
residents distress in being unable to attend their stock and access their homes and landholdings
• BBNPA was successful in securing Welsh Government (Unfunded Pressures in 2019) funding 
to formalise some of these interventions and develop wider landscape and partnership based 
proposals.
• BBNPA used part of this funding to commission Powys Highways to design a traffic 
management scheme to prevent verge parking (between the entrance to the showground field and the 
turning for Carn-y-crochan) and allow for the creation of up to 20 additional off road spaces on the 
narrow section of common near to the entrance to Clyn-Gwyn bunkhouse/ Sgwd Clun-gwyn
• BBNPA held an initial meeting with adjacent landowners in January 2020 to review the 
proposed options prior to a full public consultation which is to be held in the Ystradfellte Village Hall 
on the 24th March, final designs can then be presented for planning and commons consent
• BBNPA have also commissioned Powys Highways to cover this section of highway with a 
traffic order (double yellow lines) to make it an offense to park outside of designated parking bays, 
such was the severity of peak congestion in this area 

In further news:
• An identical traffic order has also been applied to the road outside Gwaun Hepste between 
the Cwm Porth turning and Ystradfellte turning (if heading in to the village from the A4059) and will 
receive double yellow lines at the same time as Comin y Rhos – this is to help prevent parking in 
passing places
• BBNPA Officers/ Wardens will be meeting with and working alongside Dyfed Powys Police, 
local communities and landowners to again provide overflow parking on private land during 2020 and 
identify other ways in which to improve on the traffic management interventions of the previous two 
years
• Severn Wye consultants have now been appointed by Pontneddfechan Community Council to 
carry out a study into the feasibility of a Community Interest Company or similar model, working with 
residents and businesses to derive community benefit from visitor footfall. This project was funded by 
Pen-y-Cwmoedd windfarm and match funding from SDF

8. BBNPA Structure
Paul Sinnadurai, BBNPA Natural Resources Manager, provided members with a written update on 
the BBNPA restructure and “Change Programme”.

Page 3



9. Welsh Government funding
Paul Sinnadurai, BBNPA Natural Resources Manager, provided members with a written update on 
Welsh Government funding and the new funding streams to be launched by NRW in April 2020 to 
accompany the Area Statements.

10. Area Statements
The Area Statements are due to go live in April 2020. NRW confirmed that BBNPA staff would have 
a personal contact within NRW’s Mid Area who can coordinate across the South West, South Central 
and South East Area’s when enquiries or projects relate to those other parts of the Park within these 
Area boundaries. Mid Wales staff will provide this ‘linking up’ service to save BBNPA staff having 
multiple NRW contacts.

11. Any Other Competent Business

Rights of Way Diversion applications
Members discussed the recent consultation on the application to divert the footpath at Newcourt, 
Community of Gwernyfed. Members discussed the merits of including access improvements such 
replacing gates with stiles in the LAF’s response to consultations.

Data Collection
IJ outlined his proposal for gathering well-being and economic data related to the BBNP. Meetings 
have been held with a number of universities and the proposal given to them. Discussions were quite 
positive and it’s hoped that some data will be able to be collected this year. IJ will circulate the proposal 
to Members.

RB suggested looking into Sustainable Development Funding and recommended speaking to Sunita 
Welch regarding the BBNPA Visitor Survey. CW also highlighted the Waterfalls survey.

Events
DH asked if the BBNPA had been consulted on the Black Mountains 3 Peaks Challenge which is being 
held soon. There are concerns amongst local farmers that no consultation had been carried out and 
that the event is taking place at a very sensitive time of year with ewes heavy in lamb.

Members had a general discussion around the number of events being held and the cumulative effect 
on the areas where the events take place.

Date of the next meeting:

14th May 2020, Venue to be confirmed.

Page 4



Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way 1 20 October 2020

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY PLANNING, 
ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY HELD VIRTUALLY BY REMOTE MEETING ON 

TUESDAY, 20TH OCTOBER, 2020

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr M Jones and Cllr McNicholas

Monmouthshire

Cllr A Webb

Carmarthenshire

Cllr A James

Merthyr Tydfil

Cllr M Colbran

Torfaen County Borough

Cllr S Evans

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr Julian Stedman (Chair), Mr Christopher Coppock, Ms Liz Davis, Canon Aled Edwards and Mr 
James Marsden.

1 Apologies for Absence 

Apologies were received from Cllr J Evans, Cllr G Ratcliffe, Cllr E Roderick, Cllr S Evans 
and Ms S Holden and Cllr S McNicholas (Cllr McNicholas was able to join the meeting 
briefly but had to leave for a prior engagement).

2 Chairman's Announcements 

Page 5

ENC5



Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way 2 20 October 2020

The Chair advised with regard to the cyber attack suffered by the Authority over the 
weekend of 12/13th September which resulted in the cancellation of the PAROW 
scheduled for 22nd September.  He advised that most services have returned now.
 
The Chair asked the CEO, Mr Julian Atkins, to give a brief update on the system return.  
He gave thanks to the hard work of the Planning team and IT team during this difficult 
period.
 
The Chair asked the Planning and Heritage Manager, Ms Tracy Nettleton, to give an 
update on the planning function.  She advised that we were able to restart our search 
facility the previous week and we are now able to process applications, it is hoped that we 
will soon be able to resume normal service.
 
The Chair thanked the Planning team for all their hardwork.
 
The CEO left the meeting at this point for a prior engagement.  Mr J Marsden joined the meeting 
at this point.

3 Declarations of Interest 

The Monitoring Officer, Mr Sean O’Connor, advised that all Members would be declaring 
a personal interest in Enclosure 5 Item 3 but if any felt they had further involvement in 
this application they should make a separate declaration.
 
Name Enc Item Nature of Interest
Mr J Stedman 5 3 Personal 
Cllr M Jones 5 3 Personal
Cllr J Hill 5 3 Personal
Cllr M Colbran 5 3 Personal
Cllr A James 5 3 Personal
Cllr A Webb 5 3 Personal
Cllr G Thomas 5 3 Personal
Mr C Coppock 5 3 Personal
Ms L Davies 5 3 Personal
Canon A Edwards 5 3 Personal
Mr J Marsden 5 3 Personal
Cllr G Thomas 5 1 Personal

 

4 Minutes of last meeting 

The Chairman was authorised to sign the Minutes of the Brecon Beacons National Park 
Authority Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee held on 28th July 2020 as a 
correct record.
 

5 Development Control Reports for Decision 

1. 19/17586/FUL – A reserves swap for the extraction of limestone 
within the south eastern area of Penderyn Quarry, with the 

Page 6



Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way 3 20 October 2020

relinquishment of existing rights to quarry reserves of 
limestone in the south western area of the quarry along the 
Twyn-y-Glog ridgeline, with associated operational and 
restoration works – Penderyn Quarry, Chapel Road, Penderyn, 
Hirwaun, Rhondda Cynon Taff, CF44 0TX

  
 Cllr G Thomas declared a personal interest in this item.

 
The Members were provided with an extensive presentation by the Case 
Officers, Mr Hugh Towns (Carmarthenshire County Council), Mr 
Thomas Boothroyd (Carmarthenshire County Council) and also in 
attendance was Mrs Bridgit Schofield, NP Planning Ecologist.

  
Late Info: The officers advised that late correspondence had been received from 

Rhondda Cynon Taf Environmental Health, this was summarized by the 
officer.
 
A short break was taken at 12pm, all members returned at 12:05pm.

  
Public 
Speaker:

The Applicant, Mr M Frampton, addressed the Members in support of 
the application.

  
Proposal: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions set out 

in the report and the Section 106 Agreement was put to Members.
  
 Proposed: Cllr G Thomas Seconded: Ms L Davies
  
Decision: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions set out 

in the report and the Section 106 Agreement was agreed.
 
NOTE: As set out in the Officer Report contained within the Agenda 
for the meeting scheduled for 20th October 2020 it is to be noted that 
this application must under the requirements stated, in the report, be 
referred to Welsh Government.

  
2. 20/18682/FUL – Lean to shed off existing agricultural shed for 

the purpose of lambing 100 ewes and stabling of 7 horses – 
Glangwysg Meadows, Crickhowell Road, Gilwern, NP7 0EH

  
 The Members were provided with a presentation by the Case Officer, Mr 

Joshua Burrows.
  
Late Info: None.
  
Public 
Speaker:

Cllr Jane Pratt, addressed the Members in objection to the application.

  
Proposal: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions set out 

in the report was put to Members.
  

Page 7



Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way 4 20 October 2020

 Proposed: Cllr M Colbran Seconded: Cllr J Hill
  
Decision: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions set out 

in the report was agreed.
  
 The Chair advised there would be a lunch break, he asked Members to return 

at 2:15pm.
  
 Cllr M Colbran advised he would not be returning to the meeting due to a prior 

engagement.
 
The meeting resumed at 2:17pm.

  
3. 20/18308/FUL – Improvements to an existing footpath to 

include installing culverts for drainage where needed, steps up a 
steep section of bank, a kissing gate instead of a stile, bank 
stabilization and stone pitching on both sides of a crossing over 
a water course, improved surfacing, drainage and stock gates at 
both ends of the underpass and a compacted dust surfaced path 
over boggy ground – Underpass And Footpath, Adjacent to 
A470, From Layby West of Storey Arms, Brecon, Powys, LD3 
8NL

  
 All members declared a personal interest in this item.

 
The Members were provided with a presentation by the Case Officer, 
Mrs Ffion Bevan.

  
Late Info: Late correspondence was received from Welsh Government Transport 

Department, this was summarised by the Case Officer.
  
Public 
Speaker:

The Applicant, Ms Sian Shakespear, addressed the Members in support of 
the application.

  
Proposal: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions set out 

in the report was put to Members.
  
 Proposed: Cllr A James Seconded: Cllr M Jones
  
Decision: The Officer recommendation to permit subject to the conditions set out 

in the report was agreed.
 

6 Development Control Related Matters for Noting 

Item 1 Delegated Applications Report
  
 The report was noted.
  
Item 2 Agricultural Notifications Report
  

Page 8



Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way 5 20 October 2020

 The report was noted.
  
Item 3 Fringe Notifications
  
 Ms Tracy Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager, gave a brief update 

to Members.
 
The report was noted.

  
Item 4 Planning Obligations Report
  
 Ms Tracy Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager, gave members a 

brief update to Members. 
 
The report was noted.

  
Item 5 Appeal Summary Report
  
 Ms Tracy Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager, gave members an 

update to Members.  It was requested by members that a meeting be 
arranged to discuss the protocol of appeals.
 
The report was noted.

  
Item 6 Commuted Sums Report
  
 The report was noted.

 
At this point the Chair had to withdraw from the meeting due to a prior 
appointment.  It was agreed by vote that in the absence of the Deputy Chair 
(Cllr E Roderick) that Cllr M Jones would take the role of Chair of this meeting.

  
Item 7 Statutory Pre-Application Report
  
 Ms Tracy Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager, gave members a 

brief update.
 
The report was noted.

  
Item 8 Development Management Statistics Report
  
 Ms Tracy Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager, gave members a 

brief update.
 
The report was noted.

  
Item 9 Enforcement Statistics Report
  
 The report was noted.
  

Page 9



Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way 6 20 October 2020

Item 10 Development Control Matter for Noting – Wales Transport 
Strategy

  
 Ms Tracy Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager, gave an update to 

members.
 
The report was noted.

  
 

7 Enforcement Reports 

Access to Information
 
Resolved that pursuant to the provisions of Section 100A of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public be excluded from the Meeting for the following item of business on the 
grounds that there would be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
Paragraphs 12, 13, 17 and 18 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A of the above Act and the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the 
information.
 
Item 1 Enforcement Delegated Reports
  
 The contents of the report were noted.
  

 
 

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the Planning, Access and Rights of Way

Page 10



Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way Site Visit 1 7 October 2020

MINUTES OF BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY PLANNING, 
ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY SITE VISIT HELD VIRTUALLY ON WEDNESDAY, 

7TH OCTOBER, 2020

PRESENT:

Powys

Cllr E Roderick (Deputy Chair), Cllr M Jones and Cllr McNicholas

Carmarthenshire

Cllr Andrew James

Merthyr Tydfil

Cllr M Colbran

Blaenau Gwent

Cllr J Hill

Rhondda Cynon Taff

Cllr G Thomas

Members appointed by the Welsh Government

Mr Julian Stedman (Chair) and Canon Aled Edwards

1. Apologies for Absence 

Apologies were received from Cllr G Ratcliffe, Cllr A Webb, Cllr S Evans, Mr J Marsden, 
Ms L Davies, Mrs S Holden and Mr C Coppock

2. Minute of Meeting 

Virtual Site Visit for the following application:
 
19/17586/FUL – A reserves swap for the extraction of limestone within the 
south eastern area of Penderyn Quarry, with the relinquishment of existing 
rights to quarry reserves of limestone in the south western area of the quarry 
along the Twyn-y-Glog ridgeline, with associated operational and restoration 
works – Penderyn Quarry, Chapel Road, Penderyn, Hirwaun, Rhondda Cynon 
Taff, CF44 0TX
 
The meeting commenced at 2pm.  Ms Tracy Nettleton, Planning and Heritage Manager, 
introduced the officers from Carmarthenshire County Council, Mr Hugh Towns and Mr 

Page 11

ENC6



Brecon Beacons National Park
Planning, Access and Rights of Way Site Visit 2 7 October 2020

Thomas Boothroyd who have been the Case Officers for this application.  Mrs Bridgit 
Schofield, NP Planning Ecologist, was also in attendance.
 
Mr Hugh Towns and Mr Thomas Boothroyd provided the members with a presentation 
containing photos and video footage of the site.  They gave an extensive PowerPoint 
presentation to members.
 
Members engaged following the presentation asking questions of clarification of the 
presentation given.
 
The meeting ended at 3:45pm.

Signed as a correct record
Chairman of the Planning, Access and Rights of Way Site Visit

Page 12



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

15 December 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS ON APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION 

BY

THE PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

Page 13

ENC7Item 1



APPLICATION NUMBER: 20/18999/MINOR

APPLICANTS NAME(S): Mr Alun Morgan

SITE ADDRESS: Bailea Barn
Sennybridge

Powys
LD3 8TB

GRID REF: E: 294646  N: 228573

COMMUNITY: Maescar

DATE VALIDATED: 27 August 2020

DECISION DUE DATE: 16 December 2020

CASE OFFICER:

Reason(s)Application 
Reported to Committee

Alan Southerby

Relative of applicant is an employee of the Authority 
and directly involved in the determination of planning 

applications 

PROPOSAL Minor amendment sought to 19/17950/FUL - It is proposed to 
replace the use of Marley Eternit Cladding on the two proposed 
extensions with a natural slate roof to match the main barn and 
proposed garage and to clad the exterior of the extensions in 
painted softwood ship lap cladding. It is proposed to paint the 
timber in Umbra Grey (RAL no 7022). It is also proposed to use 
aluminium glazing for the openings within the main barn and 

Page 14



proposed garage windows as opposed to painted timber. It is 
proposed to install square contemporary dark grey windows and 
doors. These would match the glazing proposed in the two 
extensions

ADDRESS Bailea Barn, Sennybridge, Powys, LD3 8TB

1.  Description of Development

The application seeks a Non-material Amendment (NMA) to an already approved application ref. 
19/17950/FUL, for the conversion of the barn to a residential use and associated works. The existing 
approved scheme was considered by Members of the PAROW Committee at its meeting on 11 February 
2020.

The amendments sought are as described in the ‘proposal’ above, and represent minor changes to the 
approved scheme, in terms of the proposed use of external materials and finishes.

2.  Site and Context

As reported previously when planning permission was granted for the scheme, the application site 
comprises a traditional stone barn at Bailea Farm, and its surrounding curtilage. It is sited approximately 
3km to the east of Sennybridge. The farm comprises a complex of buildings, the barn the subject of this 
application being situated on the southern edge of the group. The site slopes down gradually from the 
nearby unclassified highway to the north from where access is gained, to its most southern part. The 
south-east boundary abuts a dense area of mature woodland.

3.  Planning History

App Ref Description Decision Date

19/17950/FUL Conversion of barn to residential use 
and associated works

Approved with 
Conditions

24 August 
2020

20/19000/DISC
ON

To discharge conditions pursuant to 
planning permission 19/17950/FUL- 
Condition 11- Details of disposal of 
foul and surface water drainage
Condition 12- External sample 
details- plans, brochure and sample 
photos Condition 13- Slab sample 
photo Condition 16- Photographic 
survey

Reported elsewhere 
on this agenda

4.  Relevant Local and National Planning Policy

4.1 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan and Supplementary 
Planning Guidance

Policy no. Policy
SP1 National Park Policy

Page 15



Policy 1 Appropriate Development in the National Park
CYD LP1 Enabling Appropriate Development in the Countryside
Policy 23 Sustainable Design in the Adaption and Re-use of Existing Buildings

4.2    National Planning Policy and Guidance
Document
Planning Policy Wales: 10th Edition (2018)

Technical Advice Note 12: Design (2016) 

5.  Summary of Consultation responses

Heritage Officer (Built 
Heritage)

No objection to utilising the same design aluminium 
windows on the garage and main barn. There will still 
remain a respect for the agricultural character of these 
buildings.

The alteration from a profile sheeting to shiplap boarding 
for the barn lean-to structures would also keep an 
agricultural feel to these aspects of the building and there 
is no objection to this amendment.

Following correspondence in relation to the other aspect 
of the proposals, the Heritage Officer has confirmed that 
as it has now been clarified that the roof pitch is of a 
minimum 20 degrees then the slate would be appropriate 
and there would be no objection to this from a heritage 
perspective.

6. Third Party Representations

There is no mandatory or procedural requirement to undertake any specific public consultation with 
applications for Non-material Amendments. However, the application has been available for view on its public 
website. No comments have been received, which was likewise the case for the original planning application.

7. Well Being and Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

The primary objective of Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 (2018) is to ensure that the planning 
system contributes towards the effective delivery of sustainable development and improves the 
social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales as required by the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (WBFG Act). 

The ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been taken into account and it is considered 
that the recommendation below is in accordance with the sustainable development principle through Its 
contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives, as required by Section 8 of 

Page 16



the WBFG Act.  

8. Planning Obligations:

The proposal does not affect the existing Section 106 agreement, secured in order to provide for 
the relevant affordable housing payment to be made at such a time that the converted barn is either 
sold on the open market or ownership transfers outside of the farming family, and that the property 
is marketed for commercial, sport tourism or recreational uses prior to being advertised as a 
residential dwelling.

9. Assessment:

As set out in Welsh Government Guidance: Approving Non-material Amendments (NMAs) to an 
Existing Planning Permission (July 2014), there is no statutory definition of a NMA. This is because 
it depends on a number of factors such as the context of the overall scheme, the amendments being 
sought to the original planning permission, the specific circumstances of the site and surrounding 
areas, which will vary from one application to another. What may be non-material in one context 
may be material in another. In deciding whether or not a proposed change is non-material, 
consideration should be given to the effect of the change, together with any previous changes made 
to the original planning permission.

When assessing and determining whether or not a proposed change would qualify as a NMA, the 
guidance states that local planning authorities may wish to consider the following tests:

(a)(i) Is the scale of the proposed change great enough to cause an impact different to that caused 
by the original approved development scheme; and, (a)(ii) would the proposed change result in a 
detrimental impact either visually or in terms of local amenity?
(b) Would the interests of any third party or body be disadvantaged in planning terms; or
(c) Would the proposed change conflict with national or development plan policies?

Proposed amendments

The proposed amendments to the approved scheme under 19/17950/FUL are as follows:

 Replace the use of Marley Eternit Cladding on the two proposed extensions with a natural 
slate roof to match the main barn and proposed garage;

 Clad the exterior of the extensions in painted softwood shiplap cladding, to be painted in 
Umbra Grey (RAL no 7022); and

 Use aluminium glazing for the openings within the main barn and proposed garage windows 
as opposed to painted timber - it is proposed to install square contemporary dark grey 
windows and doors to match the glazing proposed in the two approved extensions

Consideration of amendments

In the submission, the applicant has explained the following:

“The amendment to the external materials of the two extensions is sought because the overall finished 
appearance of the extensions if they were finished in the Marley Eternit Cladding would be bulky in relation 
to the finish of the main barn. The profiles which cover the ends of the sheets to go around the windows 
and doors will not create a slim line, overall flush fitting finish. On research into the product, it has become 

Page 17



apparent that a flashing kit to be installed around flush fitting roof windows is not available. Therefore, 
the use of another form of flashing kit around the roof windows could lead to leaking following installation 
as it is not made to fit the material profile. It is considered that a slate roof to the extensions would fit in 
better with the main barn, proposed garage and proposed bat shed.

The amendment to the glazing within the main barn and proposed garage is sought as it is considered 
that aluminium windows would allow for maintenance free glazing and it would look more uniform to 
have all glazing the same throughout the site.”

Having considered the matter and taken account of the comments of the Heritage Officer, and 
those of the applicant, it is considered that the alterations now proposed would not materially alter 
or impact upon the overall character and appearance of the approved conversion scheme, and 
would not result in a detrimental visual impact. In addition, there would be no disadvantage to any 
third party in planning terms. Furthermore, there would be no conflict with any current 
development plan policy.

Conclusion

The proposed changes are considered to be non-material. Likewise, there would be minimal 
perception of the changes within the overall finished scheme. The impact of the proposals on the 
local area, the compliance with policy and the visual and amenity impact and third-party interests 
would not be changed by the proposed amendments.

Standard headings for PAROW Committee reports

Whilst normally, applications being reported to Members of the PAROW Committee are required 
to be assessed under a series of additional headings, this is not considered either necessary or 
appropriate in this case given that the application is for a small number of minor ‘Non-material 
Amendments’, which are not considered to have the effect of altering the nature and extent of the 
existing planning permission. 

Recommendation: Permit

Page 18



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

15 December 2020

RECOMMENDATIONS ON APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION 

BY

THE PLANNING, ACCESS AND RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE

Page 19

ENC7Item 2



APPLICATION NUMBER: 20/19000/DISCON

APPLICANTS NAME(S): Mr Alun Morgan

SITE ADDRESS: Bailea Barn
Sennybridge

Powys
LD3 8TB

GRID REF: E: 294646  N: 228573

COMMUNITY: Maescar

DATE VALIDATED: 28 August 2020

DECISION DUE DATE: 16 December 2020

CASE OFFICER:

Reason(s)Application 
Reported to Committee

Alan Southerby

Relative of applicant is an employee of the Authority 
and directly involved in the determination of planning 

applications 

PROPOSAL To discharge conditions pursuant to planning permission 
19/17950/FUL- Condition 11- Details of disposal of foul and surface 
water drainage
Condition 12- External sample details- plans, brochure and sample 
photos Condition 13- Slab sample photo Condition 16- 
Photographic survey

Page 20



ADDRESS Bailea Barn, Sennybridge, Powys, LD3 8TB

1.  Description of Development

The application seeks to discharge a number of ‘pre-commencement’ type conditions attached to an 
already approved application ref. 19/17950/FUL, for the conversion of the barn to a residential use and 
associated works. The existing approved scheme was considered by Members of the PAROW Committee 
at its meeting on 11 February 2020.

The detailed information covers proposed drainage arrangements (Condition 11), external materials 
(Condition 12), details of hard landscaping works (Condition 13) and a photographic survey and record 
of the existing building (Condition 16).

2.  Site and Context

As reported previously when planning permission was granted for the scheme, the application site 
comprises a traditional stone barn at Bailea Farm, and its surrounding curtilage. It is sited approximately 
3km to the east of Sennybridge. The farm comprises a complex of buildings, the barn the subject of this 
application being situated on the southern edge of the group. The site slopes down gradually from the 
nearby unclassified highway to the north from where access is gained, to its most southern part. The 
south-east boundary abuts a dense area of mature woodland.

3.  Planning History

App Ref Description Decision Date

19/17950/FUL Conversion of barn to residential use 
and associated works

Approved with 
Conditions

24 August 
2020

20/18999/
MINOR

Minor amendment sought to 
19/17950/FUL - It is proposed to 
replace the use of Marley Eternit 
Cladding on the two proposed 
extensions with a natural slate roof to 
match the main barn and proposed 
garage and to clad the exterior of the 
extensions in painted softwood ship 
lap cladding. It is proposed to paint 
the timber in Umbra Grey (RAL no 
7022). It is also proposed to use 
aluminium glazing for the openings 
within the main barn and proposed 
garage windows as opposed to 
painted timber. It is proposed to 
install square contemporary dark 
grey windows and doors. These 
would match the glazing proposed in 
the two extensions

Reported elsewhere 
on this agenda

Page 21



4.  Relevant Local and National Planning Policy

4.1 Brecon Beacons National Park Authority Local Development Plan and Supplementary 
Planning Guidance

Policy no. Policy
SP1 National Park Policy
Policy 1 Appropriate Development in the National Park
CYD LP1 Enabling Appropriate Development in the Countryside
SP11 Sustainable Design
Policy 23 Sustainable Design in the Adaption and Re-use of Existing Buildings
SP16 Sustainable Infrastructure
Policy 57 Use of Non Mains Sewerage Solutions
Policy 58 Sustainable Drainage Systems

4.2    National Planning Policy and Guidance
Document
Planning Policy Wales: 10th Edition (2018)

5.  Summary of Consultation responses

DCWW

NRW

PCC EHO

PCC SAB

PCC Land Drainage

Heritage Officer (Built 
Heritage)

CPAT

No comments to make (Condition 11)

No comments to make (Condition 11)

No comments received at time of writing report 
(Condition 11)

No comments received at time of writing report
(Condition 11)

No comments received at time of writing report 
(Condition 11)

The information provided is sufficient to indicate that 
these materials and finishes are appropriate and, 
therefore, Condition 12 can be discharged (Conditions 
12 and 13)

No objections to discharge (Condition 16)

6. Third Party Representations

There is no mandatory or procedural requirement to undertake any specific public consultation with 
applications for the discharge of planning conditions. However, the application has been available for view on 

Page 22



the public website. No comments have been received, which was likewise the case for the original planning 
application.

7. Well Being and Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015

The primary objective of Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 (2018) is to ensure that the planning 
system contributes towards the effective delivery of sustainable development and improves the 
social, economic, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales as required by the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (WBFG Act). 

The ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been taken into account and it is considered 
that the recommendation below is in accordance with the sustainable development principle through Its 
contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives, as required by Section 8 of 
the WBFG Act.  

8. Planning Obligations:

The application has no bearing on the existing Section 106 agreement, secured in order to provide 
for the relevant affordable housing payment to be made at such a time that the converted barn is 
either sold on the open market or ownership transfers outside of the farming family, and that the 
property is marketed for commercial, sport tourism or recreational uses prior to being advertised 
as a residential dwelling.

9. Assessment:

The details submitted against each planning condition are assessed as follows:

Proposed details and consideration thereof

Condition 11 – details of foul and surface water drainage

As far as foul drainage is concerned, a domestic sewage treatment plant is proposed, as proposed 
and approved as part of the existing planning permission, ref. 19/17950/FUL. Both Natural 
Resources Wales and Dwr Cymru Welsh Water have confirmed that they have no comments to 
make. No comments have been received from Powys County Council’s Environment Health 
Officer. However, at the time of the planning application, it was confirmed that there were no 
objections to a package treatment plant, discharging to a watercourse.

As far as land drainage is concerned, Powys County Council as the Sustainable Urban Drainage 
System (SuDS) Approval Body (SAB), confirmed that the proposed development will require SAB 
approval prior to any construction works commencing onsite.

As such, this matter was effectively resolved at the time of the planning application, meaning the 
details now submitted which do not alter any proposed arrangements are acceptable, and it is 
recommended that Condition 11 can now be discharged.

Condition 12 – External sample details - plans, brochure and sample photos

The application is supported by the following details:

Page 23



 Dark grey rainwater goods
 Conservation rooflight
 Anthracite grey, and of a square type profile, aluminium windows and doors
 Grey ridge tile
 Natural slate
 Natural stone 

The details are acceptable in this location in that they are considered to be appropriate for use in 
connection with the approved rural conversion scheme, as also advised by the Heritage Officer. As 
such, it is recommended that Condition 12 can now be discharged.

Condition 13 – Slab sample photo

The application is supported by the following details:

 Natural Indian sandstone slab paving

The details are acceptable in this location in that they are considered to be appropriate for use in 
connection with the approved rural conversion scheme. As such, it is recommended that Condition 
13 can now be discharged.

Condition 16 – Photographic survey

A photographic survey and record has been submitted, which Clwyd Powys Archaeological Trust 
(CPAT) have confirmed is acceptable. As such, it is recommended that Condition 16 can now be 
discharged.

Conclusion

It is considered that the details now submitted are sufficient to discharge the individual conditions 
of the planning permission.

Standard headings for PAROW Committee reports

Whilst normally, applications being reported to Members of the PAROW Committee are required 
to be assessed under a series of additional headings, this is not considered either necessary or 
appropriate in this case given that the application is for the discharge of details required by planning 
conditions attached to an existing planning permission. 

Recommendation: Permit

Page 24



APPLICATIONS DELEGATED TO THE NATIONAL PARK OFFICERS

App No. Grid Ref. Decision Date Issued

20/18330/FUL N: 211540 
E: 305780

Permit 25 November 
2020

20/18344/FUL N: 217990 
E: 314022

Withdraw 19 October 
2020

20/18445/LBC N: 228744 
E: 297157

Permit 16 November 
2020

20/18503/FUL N: 211869 
E: 329025

Permit 20 October 
2020

20/18508/FUL N: 242312 
E: 323014

Permit 10 November 
2020

20/18509/LBC N: 242312 
E: 323014

Permit 18 November 
2020

20/18531/CPE N: 221676 
E: 310444

Permit 3 November 
2020

20/18532/FUL N: 231976 
E: 316180

Withdraw 26 October 
2020

20/18560/FUL N: 213000 
E: 283530

Permit 11 November 
2020

20/18577/LBC N: 228494 
E: 304407

Permit 11 November 
2020

20/18615/LBC N: 220767 
E: 324422

Permit 16 November 
2020

20/18622/FUL N: 219053 
E: 265630

Permit 20 November 
2020

20/18649/FUL N: 216568 
E: 330606

Permit 6 November 
2020

20/18673/FUL N: 216831 
E: 323123

Permit 2 November 
2020

20/18688/FUL N: 219231 
E: 314785

Permit 25 November 
2020

20/18702/FUL N: 236806 
E: 318710

Permit 2 November 
2020

Page 25

ENC8Item 1



20/18703/CON N: 236806 
E: 318710

Permit 19 October 
2020

20/18725/DISCON N: 220677 
E: 322997

Permit 22 October 
2020

20/18730/DISCON N: 228792 
E: 304242

Permit 6 October 
2020

20/18754/FUL N: 228184 
E: 304867

Permit 17 November 
2020

20/18755/FUL N: 219859 
E: 323688

Permit 7 October 
2020

20/18794/DISCON N: 242304 
E: 322932

Permit 12 November 
2020

20/18803/DISCON N: 214029 
E: 327166

Permit 21 October 
2020

20/18833/DISCON N: 228200 
E: 301254

Permit 18 November 
2020

20/18838/CON N: 213963 
E: 327068

Permit 30 October 
2020

20/18839/FUL N: 207960 
E: 290158

Permit 26 November 
2020

20/18844/FUL N: 225005 
E: 309350

Refuse 3 November 
2020

20/18850/FUL N: 218087 
E: 322187

Permit 10 November 
2020

20/18856/FUL N: 218942 
E: 265296

Permit 12 October 
2020

20/18857/FUL N: 221972 
E: 311934

Permit 17 November 
2020

20/18864/FUL N: 226110 
E: 309264

Permit 3 November 
2020

20/18865/DISCON N: 214028 
E: 327166

Permit 7 October 
2020

20/18870/FUL N: 229225 Permit 15 October 

Page 26



E: 304444 2020

20/18871/FUL N: 213404 
E: 323239

Refuse 27 November 
2020

20/18884/MINOR N: 213602 
E: 326664

Refuse 21 October 
2020

20/18888/DISCON N: 218657 
E: 265120

Permit 27 October 
2020

20/18889/FUL N: 223101 
E: 311142

Permit 11 November 
2020

20/18890/FUL N: 229234 
E: 287746

Permit 27 November 
2020

20/18891/FUL N: 213218 
E: 283763

Retrospective Application 
Permitted

26 November 
2020

20/18902/FUL N: 218074 
E: 322150

Permit 26 October 
2020

20/18904/FUL N: 217645 
E: 320991

Permit 20 November 
2020

20/18906/FUL N: 220171 
E: 328840

Permit 16 November 
2020

20/18908/DISCON N: 223632 
E: 310795

Split Decision Discharge 
Conditions

22 October 
2020

20/18912/FUL N: 242502 
E: 323089

Permit 2 November 
2020

20/18914/FUL N: 219432 
E: 315652

Permit 3 November 
2020

20/18915/FUL N: 219057 
E: 321884

Permit 20 November 
2020

20/18920/FUL N: 228588 
E: 303775

Permit 19 October 
2020

20/18929/DISCON N: 220585 
E: 312456

Permit 6 November 
2020

20/18930/DISCON N: 220585 
E: 312456

Permit 6 November 
2020

Page 27



20/18934/CON N: 227893 
E: 306997

Permit 2 November 
2020

20/18936/FUL N: 227613 
E: 289747

Withdraw 9 October 
2020

20/18944/DISCON N: 227442 
E: 277610

Permit 6 October 
2020

20/18947/FUL N: 217736 
E: 321000

Permit 11 November 
2020

20/18949/CPE N: 215836 
E: 324995

Permit 20 November 
2020

20/18952/MINOR N: 211254 
E: 305655

Permit 12 November 
2020

20/18954/FUL N: 220346 
E: 298265

Permit 27 November 
2020

20/18963/FUL N: 217609 
E: 320954

Permit 27 November 
2020

20/18964/LBC N: 217609 
E: 320954

Permit 27 November 
2020

20/18965/LBC N: 228335 
E: 304813

Withdraw 24 November 
2020

20/18971/DISCON N: 242357 
E: 323080

Permit 16 November 
2020

20/18974/FUL N: 216259 
E: 331472

Permit 25 November 
2020

20/18976/DISCON N: 242307 
E: 322900

Permit 22 October 
2020

20/18985/TRCA N: 218782 
E: 321656

Works approved 5 October 
2020

Page 28



20/18986/CPE N: 223187 
E: 311988

Permit 19 October 
2020

20/18997/DEM N: 229089 
E: 305032

Planning Permission Not 
Required

14 October 
2020

20/19015/FUL N: 231622 
E: 284521

Permit 26 November 
2020

20/19021/CAC N: 218182 
E: 321984

Permit 27 November 
2020

20/19037/MINOR N: 221300 
E: 328074

Permit 12 October 
2020

20/19042/MINOR N: 213649 
E: 326828

Permit 12 October 
2020

20/19046/DISCON N: 213540 
E: 323819

Permit 10 November 
2020

20/19047/DISCON N: 216667 
E: 331063

Split Decision Discharge 
Conditions

17 November 
2020

20/19050/FUL N: 205443 
E: 330932

Withdraw 30 October 
2020

20/19054/CPL N: 227613 
E: 289747

Permit 20 November 
2020

20/19086/SPACON N: 211224 
E: 282656

Pre-application consultation 
response

14 October 
2020

20/19125/CL N: 233366 
E: 281963

Permit 24 November 
2020

20/19076/MINOR N: 218727 
E: 329745

Withdraw 12 November 
2020

20/19078/FUL N: 214285 
E: 326754

Withdraw 27 November 
2020

20/19081/FUL N: 228495 
E: 304962

Permit 26 November 
2020

Page 29



20/19093/FUL N: 226619 
E: 304554

Deemed Invalid 28 October 
2020

20/19124/DISCON N: 213963 
E: 327068

Permit 23 October 
2020

20/19133/DISCON N: 215542 
E: 323391

New Reference Given 10 November 
2020

20/19145/CPL N: 219219 
E: 325132

Refuse 20 November 
2020

20/19153/MINOR N: 229013 
E: 304592

Permit 11 November 
2020

20/19156/DISCON N: 213661 
E: 284387

Permit 25 November 
2020

20/19178/DISCON N: 227445 
E: 277608

Permit 26 November 
2020

20/19186/MINOR N: 226649 
E: 303622

Permit 24 November 
2020

20/19187/MINOR N: 214006 
E: 326675

Permit 17 November 
2020

20/19199/FUL N: 214817 
E: 325370

Invalid Application Returned 25 November 
2020

Page 30



APPLICATIONS DELEGATED TO THE NATIONAL PARK OFFICERS

App No. Grid Ref. Applicant, proposal, type, address Decision Date Issued Decision Type

20/192002/AGR N:  214570
E:  284091

Mr Matthew Hewitt for Steel portal 
building (Agricultural Notification) at 
Pant-y-Wal Farm, Brecon Road, Pen-y-
Cae Swansea SA19 1GH 

AGR PD 20 November 
2020

Delegated

20/19134/AGR  N: 226124 D J Lloyd for Agricultural Shed AGR PD       10 November     Del
                         E: 293215            200 Sq m to store agricultural equipment                         2020

             and for livestock (Agricultural Notification)
at Abersenny Uchaf Farm, Defynnog, Brecon

   

20/19115/AGR   N: 219408 Mr N Balls for New timber framed agri Planning        6 November      Del
            E:    324398          store building and access track  (Agricultural Permission

 Notification) at Ty Canol Farm, Llangenny    Required
Crickhowell

20/19071/AGR   N: 222065            Mr C Alford for Agricultural building to be    AGR PD      November        Del
            E:  327949            used for hay storage at Celyn Farm, Forest 

Coal Pit, Abergavenny

Page 31

ENC8Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



FRINGE APPLICATIONS DELEGATED TO THE NATIONAL PARK OFFICERS

App No. Grid Ref. Applicant, proposal, type, address Decision Date Issued Decision Type

20/19116/FRI N: 206614 
E: 293873

Christopher Jones for Construction and 
use of a stack with associated pipework 
and a continuous emissions monitoring 
systems gantry with ladder access 
(Fringe Consultation) at Fifth Avenue, 
Hirwaun Industrial Estate, Hirwaun 
Rhondda Cynon Taff  

Fringe 
Comments

6 November 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

The Brecon Beacons National Park Authority have some concern over the landscape and visual impacts 
of the proposed 90m stack and the impacts this then has the statutory purpose of the National Park - 
“to conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the National Park”. The NPA also 
have concerns that the proposal will adversely impact on two of the Special Qualities of the Park – its 
“sweeping grandeur and outstanding natural beauty” and the “working, living “patchwork” of contrasting 
patterns, colours, and textures”. It will be for the determining local planning authority to give due regard to 
these impacts in the determination of this planning application.

Please note that this response has been prepared by Officers, and will not receive formal ratification 
from Members until 15th December 2020 after which point in time I may provide supplementary 
response as necessary. 

Page 33

ENC8Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



STATUTORY PRE-APPLICATION CONSULTATION DELEGATED TO THE NATIONAL PARK 
OFFICERS

App No. Grid Ref. Applicant, proposal, type, address Decision Date Issued Decision Type

20/19086/SPAC
ON

N: 211224 
E: 282656

Neath Port Talbot County Council 
for Proposals for a Global Centre of Rail 
Excellence in Wales. (Statutory Pre-
application consultation) at Nant Helen 
Open Cast Coal Site Powys And, 
Onllwyn Distribution Centre,, Neath 
Port Talbot   

Pre-
application 
consultatio
n response

14 October 
2020

Delegated 
Decision

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) 
Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 

Proposal: "Development of a Global Centre of Rail Excellence, comprising of two test tracks of loop 
configuration being an electrified high speed rolling stock test track of 6.9km in length and an electrified 
low speed infrastructure test track of 4.5km, with overhead line equipment (OLE) and dual platform 
station test environment; together with operations and control offices (including staff accommodation and 
welfare), shunter cabins (2 no.), research and development, education and training, rolling stock storage 
sidings and maintenance/cleaning/decommissioning facilities; and associated, drainage, internal vehicular 
accesses, branch line rail connection, staff and visitor car parking, lighting, electrical infrastructure 
(including substations and lineside shore supplies and transformers), fencing (perimeter security, acoustic 
and stock proof), land reformation and hard and soft landscaping on land at and surrounding the Nant 
Helen Surface Mine and the Onllwyn Washery, together with demolition of existing buildings/structures 
(cross-boundary application affecting land within Neath Port Talbot and Powys County Council 
administrative boundaries)."
Address: Land at and surrounding the Nant Helen Open Cast Coal site, Powys and Onllwyn Distribution 
Centre, Neath Port Talbot

The Authority welcomes feedback from agents and applicants on the quality of the service received For  further 
information, please visit  www.beacons-npa.gov.uk&planningsurvey to fill in a brief online survey.

Thank you for your pre-application consultation which we were made aware of on the 2Ist September 2020 
regarding the above.

We understand the Welsh Ministers intend to submit a planning application to Powys County 
Council and Neath Port Talbot Council for Global Centre of Rail Excellence at land at and 
surrounding Nant Helen Open Cast Coal site. The red outline for this proposal is located partly in 
Powys and partly in Neath Port Talbot but is approximately 50m away from the Brecon Beacons 
National Park Authority (NPA) boundary.

Page 35

ENC8Item 4

http://www.beacons-npa.gov.uk/


Global Centre of Rail Excellence project (see refs: 20/0738/FUL in Powys County and 2020/0362 
Neath Port

It is noted that planning permission has now been granted for an amended restoration scheme to 
facilitate the

Talbot) on part of the area now proposed to accommodate the latest proposal. The Brecon 
Beacons National Park Authority submitted comments to the respective authorities as part of 
the earlier planning application processes.

We set out below our understanding of the proposal and some background on the NPA's policy 
and legal context. The letter ends with our comments on the draft planning application 
submission available on the designated website.

Our understanding of the proposal
The draft submission states that the main proposed elements on the land at the Nant Helen 
opencast site (referred to as area 'A' in the submission) are for the following rail testing facility 
components:

 Electrified high-speed outer rail testing track (6.9 km) for performance testing of 
electric, battery, diesel/bi-modal and hydrogen-powered trains with a speed up to II0 
mph.

 Electrified low-speed inner rail testing track (4.5 km) for testing infrastructure - such 
as the track, sleepers and other formations, platforms and signalling as well as power 
and telecommunications equipment at a line speed of up to 40mph.

 Dual platform station environment (typical of the UK rail network) for the testing of 
train platform interfaces. The platforms will have sufficient length to serve 230m trains.

The draft submission states the main proposed elements on the Onllwyn washery site (referred to 
as part 'I' in the submission) relates to research, development, education and training, associated 
storage and maintenance facilities as follows:

 Research, development, education and training/conference centre — providing laboratory 
space for the collation and assessment of testing results as well as lay-down areas for 
equipment being tested.

 An operations and control centre/office from which testing activities would be managed.
 Staff facilities.
 Rolling stock storage/sidings.
 Rolling stock maintenance facility for trains undergoing testing at the facility.
 25kv overhead line equipment (OLE) infrastructure.
 Related infrastructure to include access routes, staff car parking, drainage, lighting, 

mobile and land-based communications 'hyper-connectivity', CCTV, perimeter/security 
fencing (including acoustic mitigation as required), Neath and Brecon Branch Line 
connection and signalling upgrade.

The submission states that the various elements are proposed to be operational between 2023 and 
2025 and are proposed to be delivered in three phases. The Globel Centre of Rail Excellence is 
intended to operate 24/7 and is anticipated to employ around I20 staff.

The test tracks themselves will not require lighting except it is stated potentialy at the test station 
platforms. Lighting is required at the depot site for safety and this is stated as being intended to be 
low-level, bollard style lighting.

Background
Policy and legal context

Page 36



Section 63 of the Environment Act (I995) sets out the statutory purposes of the National Park 
as follows:-

 To conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural heritage of the National 
Park; and

 To promote opportunities for the public understanding and enjoyment of the special 
qualities of the National Park

In accordance with section 62(2) of the Environment, any relevant Authority shall have 
regard to National Park purposes when performing any functions in relation to, or so as to 
affect, land in a National Park. Relevant Authorities include public bodies, government 
departments, local authorities and statutory undertakers.

The Special Qualities of the National Park may be significantly impacted by development 
proposals on the fringes of the National Park. The Brecon Beacons National Park Management 
Plan 20I5 -2020 defines the Special Qualities of the Brecon Beacons National Park as follows:

 A National Park offering peace and tranquility with opportunities for quiet enjoyment, 
inspiration, relaxation and spiritual renewal.

 A feeling of vitality and healthfulness that comes from enjoying the Park's fresh air, clean 
water, rural setting, open land and locally produced foods.

 A sense of place and cultural identity - "Welshness" - characterised by the use of the 
indigenous Welsh language, religious and spiritual connections, unique customs and 
events, traditional foods and crafts, relatively unspoilt historic towns, villages and family 
farms. The continued practices of traditional skills developed by local inhabitants to live 
and earn a living here, such as common land practices and grazing.

 A sense of discovery where people are able to explore the Park's hidden secrets and stories 
such as genealogical histories, prehistoric ritual sites, medieval rural settlements, early 
industrial sites, local myths, legends and geological treasures.

 The Park's sweeping grandeur and outstanding natural beauty observed across a variety of 
harmoniously connected landscapes, including marvellous gorges and waterfalls, classic karst 
geology with caves and sinkholes, contrasting glacial landforms such as cliffs and broad valleys 
carved from old red sandstone and prominent hilltops with extensive views in all directions.

 A working, living "patchwork" of contrasting patterns, colours, and textures comprising of 
well-maintained farmed landscapes, open uplands, lakes and meandering rivers punctuated by 
small-scale woodlands, country lanes, hedgerows, stone walls and scattered settlements.

 Extensive and widespread access to the Park's diversity of wildlife and richness of semi-
natural habitats, such as native woodlands, heathland and grassland, natural lakes and 
riparian habitats, ancient hedgerows, limestone pavement and blanket bogs including 
those of international and national importance.

 In the context of the UK, geographically rugged, remote and challenging landscapes.
 Enjoyable and accessible countryside with extensive, widespread and varied opportunities to 

pursue walking, cycling, fishing, water-based activities and other forms of sustainable recreation 
or relaxation.

 An intimate sense of community where small, pastoral towns and villages are comparatively 
safe, friendly, welcoming and retain a spirit of cooperation.

Planning Policy Wales (PPW) (Edition I0) acknowledges the statutory purposes of National Parks and 
references the "Sandford Principle", whereby if there is a conflict between the statutory purposes, 

Page 37



greater weight shall be given to the first purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty, 
wildlife and cultural heritage. PPW states that "planning authorities have a statutory duty to have regard 
to National Parks and AONB purposes. This duty applies in relation to all activities affecting National Parks 
and AONBs, whether those activities lie within, or in the setting of, the designated areas" (see para 6.3.5).

Draft Planning Application Submission Package
We have reviewed the draft submission — principally the document entitled 'Consultation Document' 
as well as the draft Environmental Statement, Transport Assessment, Masterplan, Site Location Plan, 
planning application forms and Planning and Design and Access Statement. We consider the key 
issues which have the potential to impact on the National Park Authority's statutory purposes and 
special qualities are primarily in relation to landscape and visual impact. We make the following 
comments on the draft submission on these topic areas:

Landscape and Visual Impacts
I. Night-time assessment: we note the Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) 

currently 
omits a night-time assessment. This assessment is required in order to understand the full 
impact on the National Park and the near-by Dark Sky Reserve. We understand this 
assessment is in hand and look forward to commenting on this in due course.

2. Visual effects: The Environmental Statement outlines that there would be residual 
effects to 4 visual receptors following the establishment of mitigation planting at year 
I5. Viewpoints 2, 3 and 9 having moderate adverse beyond the I5 years and viewpoint 
14 having a major adverse impact. Three out of four of these viewpoints are from 
within the National Park. On this basis the National Park Authority still has very 
significant concern with the proposal and requires further planting mitigation to be 
incorporated in areas around the northern and eastern areas of the Washery site and 
also use of other means to intergrate the development into the landscape to be 
detailed (e.g. use of green or brown roofs etc).

3. Landscape effects: The Environmental Statement outlines moderate adverse effects on the 
landscape during construction and during the operation landscape impacts are moderate 
adverse with the impact of the mitigation planting taking at year 15 changing two out of 
three landscape character areas to have minor adverse landscape impacts. The National 
Park Authority maintains significant concern with the proposal's impact on the special 
qualities of the National Park(

4. Effective management and monitoring of mitigation planting: the basis of much of the 
landscape and visual conclusions outlined in the Environmental Statement are on 
assumption that the proposed mitigation planting establishes itself as expected in the I5-
year period. It is also noted that some of the specific detail on the planting is stated 'to be 
developed at detailed design stage' and there is also a planning condition attached to the 
earthworks permission requiring further detail too. The National Park Authority has 
outlined reservations regarding the adequacy/effectiveness of this mitigation measures in 
reality (see previous comments on the earthworks application) and has outlined above, 
the need for additional mitigation around the Washery site in particular. The National 
Park requests that the determining Planning Authorities and the applicant gives careful 
consideration to the mechanism to ensure the long-term management and maintenance 
of this planting but also that consideration is given to an appropriate mechanism for the 
effective monitoring of landscape and visual effects in the future. It is the National Park 
Authority's view that effective monitoring may require (more numerous time interval) 
photomontages in the Environmental Statement to enable effective 

Page 38



comparisons/monitoring to be undertaken in the future (and interventions to be made is 
required).

Conclusion
Based on the comments above, the Brecon Beacons National Park Authority currently has very 
significant concern that the proposal will have adverse impacts on one of the National Park's 
statutory purposes — namely "to conserve and enhance the natural beauty, wildlife and cultural 
heritage of the National Park". The NPA also have very significant concern that the proposal will 
adversely impact on three of the Special Qualities of the Park — its "sweeping grandeur and 
outstanding natural beauty", "a National Park offering peace and tranquillity with opportunities for 
quiet enjoyment, inspiration, relaxation and spiritual renewal" and
the "working, living "patchwork" of contrasting patterns, colours, and textures".

We trust the above comments are of assistance however if you wish to discuss any aspect further 
please do not hesitate to contact me.

Please note the above comments are given without prejudice to comments the National Park 
Authority may make when the respective planning applications are submitted to the Local Planning 
Authorities.

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY  
PLANNING, ACCESS & RIGHTS OF WAY COMMITTEE 

SUMMARY OF APPEALS 

APPEAL LODGED (DEVELOPMENT CONTROL)  

Ref Date Appellant Dev/Location Description of 
    Development 

None  
 

    

Appeal Decision (Development Control)  

Ref Date Appellant Dev/Location Description of 
Development 

19/18070/LBC  

 
  

14.09.2020 H Prosser Pentwyn,  

Talgarth,  

Brecon,  

Powys,  

LD3 0EH 

Change of use of agricultural land to 
residential use and construction of a 
domestic timber storage shed on the 
land. 

Appeal Dismissed – Appendix 1 

Brecon Beacons National Park Authority 22nd September 2020 

Page 41

ENC8Item 5



 

 

Penderfyniad ar yr Apêl Appeal Decision 
Ymweliad â safle a wnaed ar 04/08/20 Site visit made on 04/08/20 

gan Declan K Beggan BSc (Hons) MSc by Declan K Beggan BSc (Hons) MSc 

DipTP DipMan MRTPI DipTP DipMan MRTPI 

Arolygydd a benodir gan Weinidogion Cymru an Inspector appointed by the Welsh Ministers 

Dyddiad: 14.09.2020 Date: 14.09.2020 

Appeal Ref: APP/P9502/E/20/3251547 

Site address: Pentwyn, Talgarth, Brecon, Powys, LD3 0EH 

The Welsh Ministers have transferred the authority to decide this appeal to me as the 

appointed Inspector. 

• The appeal is made under section 20 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) 

Act 1990 against a refusal to grant listed building consent. 

• The appeal is made by H Prosser against the decision of Brecon Beacons National Park 

Authority. 

• The application Ref 19/18070/LBC, dated 21 November 2019, was refused by notice dated 15 

January 2020. 

• The works proposed are, ‘Retrospective amendments to LBC 14/11613/LBC regarding front 

windows, door and guttering’. 

Decision 

1. The appeal is dismissed. 

Procedural Matters 

2. I note the description of the development and the site address on the application form 

differ slightly to that stated on the Authority’s refusal notice; I have used the latter 
descriptions, as copied into the banner heading above as I consider they are more 

accurate and/or concise. 

3. The Authority’s refusal reason refers to a number of matters, however, both parties 

point out that the matter subject to this appeal concentrates only on the effect on the 

listed building of the fitted windows as referred to as part of the refusal reason; it is on 
this basis that I have determined the appeal. The appellant’s submission documents 

confirmed that the other matters i.e. the installation of guttering/downpipes and works 

to the exterior walls would be rectified, and this appeared to be the case when I visited 
the site. 

Main Issue 

4. The main issue is the effect of the front windows, as fitted, have had on the character 

and special interest of the listed building. 

Reasons 

5. The appeal property, Pentwyn, is a grade II listed building and has historically been 

used as a farmhouse; its reason for designation refers to it being of special interest 
because of its well-preserved character as a 1700’s Breconshire farmhouse. The 

Page 42



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/E/20/3251547 

building has a simplistic vernacular form; the listing description states that it has been 

modernised probably in the early 19th century and raised from one and a half storeys 

to two storeys. Its exterior has coloured washed rubble stone walls with a slate roof 

and a central part glazed front door under a canopy. 

6. The listing description refers to ‘two light’ 19th century windows which relate to the 

front of the property. Based on the photographic evidence of the historical windows 

that have been replaced and their symmetrical nature either side of the front door at 
ground and first floor level, it is clear they formed a significant and attractive 

architectural feature of the property. Pentwyn is attached to an historic farm building 

which has recently been subject to a separate consent for its conversion to holiday 
accommodation. 

7. The architectural features identified above and its character as an example of a well 

preserved 1700’s Breconshire farmhouse contribute to the special architectural and 

historic interest of the building and its significance as a heritage asset. 

8. Section 16(2) of the Act1 require the decision-maker, in considering whether to grant 
listed building consent, for any works, or development, affecting a listed building, or 

its setting, to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its 

setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses; 
Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 (PPW) and Technical Advice Note 24, ‘The Historic 

Environment’ (TAN 24), reiterate this stance. 

9. The appellant argues the fitted double glazed windows would not harm the character 

of the listed building; I disagree. Despite the appellant’s assertions that the windows 
appear similar to those removed, based on the submitted photographic evidence, the 

joinery for the new windows is noticeably thicker and looks visually heavier, 

notwithstanding any change in colour to the subframe. The double glazed element is 
clearly evident, and the method of securing the glazing is via the use of timber 

beading rather than traditional putty as was the case with the previously fitted 

windows; despite the appellant’s assertions these variations and the others discussed 
alter the character of the windows and identifies them as a modern addition. 

10.In addition, the window framing had a more flat engineered appearance that, based 

on the submitted historic photographs, is likely to have been at odds with the subtle 

irregularity and variation in finish of the removed/historic windows, which in this 
instance would have been a contributory and important architectural feature of the 

property. 

11.The appellant states that the original windows appeared to have more modern float 
glazing and refers to photographs dating from 2014 in support of this stance; the 

images presented provide no clarity in the identification of glazing used in the former 

windows, and in any event would not justify the complete removal of the windows. 

12.Despite the appellants assertions, the double glazed nature of the fitted windows 
produced a noticeably enhanced reflection in relation to the more distorted 

reflectiveness of single paned windows that are ordinarily found in listed buildings 

and frequently found in older properties. 

13.The appellant states the poor condition of the windows meant that they were unable 

to be repaired and cites a supporting letter from a joiner in this regard. I appreciate 

that the photographic evidence for at least one of the windows appears to show it in 

1 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 

2 Page 43



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/E/20/3251547 

poor condition, however, this evidence, nor any other evidence submitted in support 

of the condition of the windows provides any substantive detail and is therefore 

inconclusive in terms of their condition being so bad that they needed to be replaced. 

14.As the Authority pointed out, it may have been that parts of the windows could have 

been salvageable leading to an overall repair being feasible. In my experience whilst 

not ruling out the complete removal of any historic window due to its poor condition, 
nonetheless in the majority of cases such windows can usually be repaired even if 

they are suffering from significant decay. However, in this instance, even if the 

windows were deemed to be in such a poor state of repair that they needed to be 
replaced, for the reasons previously identified, those that were fitted are considered to 

be unacceptable. 

15.The windows as fitted therefore, are an unsympathetic addition to the property and 

detract from the existing historic character of the listed building, and fail to preserve 

the special architectural and historic interest of the property; this runs contrary to the 
Act. The works as carried out would also be contrary to policies 1 and 15 of the 

Brecon Beacons National Park Local Development Plan, PPW and TAN 24, which 

collectively seek to protect heritage assets. 

Other Matters 

16.In support of his case, the appellant cites the Authority’s acceptance of new windows 

to the rear and side of the property and the fitting of a new front door which it is 
argued were in a similar condition to the replaced front windows. However, I do not 

consider direct parallels can be drawn as the Authority highlight that those new 

windows were on elevations that did not have the same high significance as the front 
elevation which had undergone relatively little change, that one historic window was 

agreed to be removed by the Authority’s Senior Heritage Officer and was replaced 

with one of the same appearance as the original, and that the front door was 
relatively modern and of no historic interest; in any event I have considered the 

appeal on its own merits and found it unacceptable for the reasons given above. 

17.The appellant extols the energy efficient merits of the windows as fitted. I have seen 

no firm evidence to indicate that the fitted double glazed windows would be any more 
materially energy efficient than those that previously existed if they had been 

restored, and internal secondary glazing had been utilised, or draft proofing or even 

heavier curtain/blinds were utilised to assist in terms of maximising energy efficiency. 
In any event, such concerns or any other reasons for carrying out the works by the 

appellant would not justify the replacement of the historic windows with the double 

glazed windows as fitted, and the resultant harm to the heritage asset. 

18.Whilst I appreciate the appellant has invested a significant amount of money in 

renovating the building, this would not justify the fitting of inappropriate double 

glazed windows. 

19.I note the appellant’s concerns regarding his dealings with the Authority, however that 
does not alter my assessment of the merits of the appeal works. In addition, any 

building control approval does not indicate any works are acceptable in the context of 

alterations to a listed building. 

20.The appellant refers to concerns about the Authority’s stipulated timescale for works to 

be carried out and requests that remedial measures be considered in the event the 

appeal is dismissed; these are not matters I can address within this appeal process. 

3 Page 44



Appeal Decision APP/P9502/E/20/3251547 

21.I note the Authority took no issue with the replacement of the front door, of which I 

have no reason to disagree. The Authority also indicated that they would support its 

retention if a separate listed building application were submitted and have indicated 
no enforcement action would be instigated for the fitting of the door; should the 

appellant wish to remedy this matter via a formal process there is a clear route to do 

so as highlighted by the Authority. 

22.Whilst the other matters subject to the Authority’s refusal reason have not been 

identified as central to this appeal for the reasons discussed earlier, nonetheless based 

on the submitted appeal details and my observations on site I have no reason to take 
a contrary view to the Authority on these matters in terms of their impact on the 

listed property. 

23.Finally, whilst the appellant has appeared to remedy the ‘other works’ subject to the 
Authority’s refusal reason, ultimately this is a matter for the Authority to satisfy 

themselves as to the appropriateness of any works undertaken. 

Conclusions 

24.Having had regard to all matters that have been raised, and for the reasons given 

above, I conclude that the appeal should not succeed. 

25.I have considered the duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and 
cultural well-being of Wales, in accordance with the sustainable development 
principle, under section 3 of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
(“the WBFG Act”). In reaching this decision, I have taken into account the ways of 

working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act and I consider that this decision is in 
accordance with the sustainable development principle through its contribution 
towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives set out as required 
by section 8 of the WBFG Act. 

Declan K Beggan 

INSPECTOR 

4 

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



C:6599050v1

               Planning Obligations
26th November 2020

Key:

AH – Affordable Housing    BIO – Biodiversity    COF – Community Facility    EDU – Education    HER – Heritage    HIW – Highways/Transport   
AF – Affordable Housing Contributions   OTH – Other    
REC – Recreation/Open Space/Footpath    RED – Rural Enterprise Dwelling/Land Tie

 With other party/parties                  With the Authority / Authority’s external solicitors

Application
Number

Applicant/
Developer

Site/
Location

Development/
Proposal

Planning
Obligations

Committee 
Date

Date 
Completed

Current
Status

18/15820/CON Mrs Judith Tuthill Coed Farm, Fforest Coalpit Deed of Variation Deed of 
Variation N/A (Delegated) 

19/17586/FUL Hanson Quarry Products 
Europe Ltd Penderyn Quarry

A reserves swap for the extraction of limestone 
within the south eastern area of Penderyn Quarry, 
with the relinquishment of existing rights to quarry 
reserves of limestone in the south western area 
of the quarry along the Twyn-y-Glog ridgeline, with 
associated operational and restoration works

OTH 20/10/2020 

19/17247/FUL Miss J Phillips Tircue Beasthouse, Cantref, Powys, 
Brecon LD3 8LL

Change of use from holiday let to farming family 
residential dwelling AF/OTHER 

19/17839/CON Mr David Sutton Land At Pengellifach Farm, Vaynor , 
Nr Merthyr Tydfil CF48 2TU  

Modification of Section 106 associated with 
application MT18635

Deed of 
Variation 

19/18050/CON Mr Matthew Hall Land Adjacent To Cerrigcochion 
Road, Brecon, Powys  

Written request for a deed of variation to a planning 
obligation agreed under Section 106 of the town and 
country planning act 1990 for planning permission 
16/13596/FUL

Deed of 
Variation 

19/17602/FUL Ms Sara Tommerup Red Pig Farm, Llangadog SA19 9DR
One Planet Development – one household, barn 
extensions, various new small sheds and a green 
house

Management 
plan and land 

tie


P
age 47

E
N

C
8Item

 6



C:6599050v1

Application
Number

Applicant/
Developer

Site/
Location

Development/
Proposal

Planning
Obligations

Committee 
Date

Date 
Completed

Current
Status

20/18303/CON Dr Nicholas Humes
Former Darenfelin School, 
Darenfelin, Llanelly Hill Abergavenny 
Monmouthshire

With regard to affordable housing contributions or 
construction of affordable housing units, the 
removal of clauses 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13, 14 
and 15 of the Second Schedule of the Planning 
Obligations agreement dated the 22nd August 2012 
reference planning permission 07/00755/COU.  The 
removal of the all requirements stated in the deed of 
variation dated 25th February 2014.

Deed of 
Variation 

20/18421/OUT Mr and Mrs Yates Baytree, Church Road, Gilwern, 
Mounmouthshire NP7 0EL

Demolition of existing structures/buildings and 
construction of one open market dwelling (outline 
planning application with all matters reserved)

AF 

20/18659/FUL Mr Darren Lock
Harvard House/Ursuline Convent, 
Glamorgan Street, Brecon Powys LD3 
7DW

Material change of use from C2 to 1no C3 dwelling 
and 3no C3 flats AF 

N.B- Columns highlighted yellow are updates of new planning obligations since last PAROW

N.B. Columns highlighted blue indicate that the matter has been withdrawn/aborted   

P
age 48



COMMUTED SUMS REPORT

Application 
number

Date
Permission

granted
Proposal SM area Settlement

Amount 
detailed in

S106

Date
Received

Date
Allocated

Date
Paid Allocated to

13/10295/FUL
Permitted
07.10.2014

Construction of 92 dwellings, Cae 
Meldon A,C&H Mon Gilwern £175,200.60 28.02.2017 09.02.2018

Melin Homes - Ty Clyd 
Close

13/09841/FUL
Permitted
27.10.2015

Construction of one dwelling at Ael Y 
Bryn B&R Powys Bwlch £15,056.80

13/10285/FUL
Permitted
30.09.2014

Erection of 1 dwelling - Roayl 
Oak, Pencelli B&R Powys Pencelli £16,251.60

13/10289/OUT
Permitted
25.10.2016

Multiple Housing Development - 
Ty Clyd Close A,C&H Mon Govilon £5,045.84

14/11036/FUL Permitted
12.10.2016 The studio, Upper House Farm A,C&H Powys Crickhowell £5,000 04.01.2017

18/16692/FUL
Permitted
17.05.2019 Variation to Canal Bank Garden B&R Powys Brecon £2,000.00

14/11607/FUL
Permitted
12.06.2016 Single Dwelling, 19 Fairhome, Gilwern A,C&H Mon Gilwern £24,377.40

17/15571/FUL
Permitted
07.04.2015 Dan Y Castell, Crickhowell A,C&H Powys Crickhowell £2,000 03.07.2018

18/16788/CON
Permitted
24.04.2017 Captain's Walk, Brecon B&R Powys Brecon £21,065.60

15/12528/FUL
Permitted
16.12.2016 2 Dwellings to the rear Bronant B&R Powys Talgarth £15,000

15/12509/FUL
Permitted
18.03.2016 1 dwelling, Green Meadows B&R Powys Brecon £19,105.20

16/13164/FUL Permitted
27.02.2018 Change of use of chapel to dwelling B&R Powys Maescar £20,450.80

15/13000/FUL Permitted
26.05.2016 1 dwelling, Peppercorn Lane B&R Powys Brecon £2,465.53

16/13266/FUL Permitted
24.05.2016 Conversion Triley Court Nursing Home A,C&H Mon Abergavenny £25,000 18.05.2017

14/11593/CON
Permitted
11.03.2015

Variation of Planning obligation 
to 11/06647/FUL A,C&H Powys Llangynidr £89,262 01.04.2016

16/13533/OUT
Permitted
28.02.2017 Outline application detached dwelling B&R Powys Libanus £22,190.80

16/13213/FUL
Permitted
12.07.2017 Conversion to 3 flats 29 High Street B&R Powys Brecon £15,000

14/10864/FUL
Permitted
24.09.15 Erection of a 2 bedroom bungalow B&R Powys Pennorth £16,959.20

ENC7Item
 6

P
age 49

E
N

C
8Item

 7



16/13832/FUL Permitted
13.03.2017 New Dwelling Ty'r Berllan A,C&H Powys Crickhowell £5,000.00

12/08575/OUT Permitted
13.01.17 Mixed use development Cwrt Y Gollen A,C&H Powys Crickhowell £517,528.20

17/14713/FUL Permitted
14.08.2017 1 Dwelling at St Johns Church Libanus B&R Powys Libanus £22,190.00 10.09.2019

17/15038/FUL
Permitted
14.02.2018 Land Adjacent To Trem Y Bannau B&R Powys Llangorse £18,745.60

17/14369/DEEM

Appeal 
allowe
d

25.08.2017
Pen Y Mynydd Barn

A,C&H Mon O/C £97,440.00 received in
full

17/14749/FUL
Permitted
01.05.19 Derwen Deg Barn

A,C&H Mon Govilon £28,118.40

17/15496/FUL
Permitted
19.12.2019 Coed Y Bryn, Bwlch

B&R Powys Bwlch £16,692.40

17/14686/OUT
Minded to 
permit

27.08.2018
Erection of 5 dwellings, land adj Brecon 
Pharm

A,C&H Powys Hay £17,208.60

17/15356/FUL
Permitted
21.06.2018 Norcott Common Road A,C&H Mon Gilwern £28,657.00

18/16733/OUT
Permitted
19.06.2019

Outline application for a single dwelling, 
Tremfa A,C&H Mon Gilwern £12,644.80

18/16045/FUL
Permitted
11.09.2019 12 Residential units B&R Powys Brecon £59,000.00

18/15843/FUL
Permitted
08.01.2019

Pentwyncanol, Glanaman (renovation of 
former Dwelling) RS Carms Glanaman £83,172.00 8.01.19

17/14646/OUT
Permitted
03.09.2019

outline permission single dwelling 
(indicative maximum ) B&R Powys Brecon £30,763.00

Total £1,428,591.37 £499,265 £175,200.60

Total Abergavenny, Crickhowell and Hay Sub Market area £1,032,482.84 £393,903 £175,200.60

Total Brecon and Rural Hinterland and Sub Market area £312,936.53 £22,190

Total Heads of the Valleys and Rural South area £83,172 £83,172

Total Powys £948,935.33
£118,452

£118,452

Total Carms £83,172 £83,172

Total Mons £396,484.04 £297,641 175,200.60

P
age 50



Deferred Payments
Application Ref Date Decision issued Site Address Reason for Deferral of payment Deferred Contribution
17/14459/FUL Permitted 16.03.2018 Old Castle Farm, Old Castle 

Road, Crucorney
In line with paragraph 3.3.10 of 
Supplementary Planning 
Guidance for Policy CYD LP1 
(Enabling Appropriate 
Development in the Countryside).

58% of Acceptable Cost 
Guidance

19/17295/FUL Permitted 22.10.2019 Ty Cooke Farm, Llanover In line with paragraph 3.3.10 of 
Supplementary Planning 
Guidance for Policy CYD LP1 
(Enabling Appropriate 
Development in the Countryside).

58% of Acceptable Cost 
Guidance

19/17318/FUL Permitted 22.01.2020 Gilfach, Llanddeusant In line with paragraph 3.3.10 of 
Supplementary Planning 
Guidance for Policy CYD LP1 
(Enabling Appropriate 
Development in the Countryside).

58% of Acceptable Cost 
Guidance

Page 69

P
age 51



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Planning, Access, and Rights of Way Committee
Planning Enforcement Figures

Page 1 of 3

PLANNING ENFORCEMENT FIGURES

Welsh Government Performance Indicators and Authority Enforcement figures

The Welsh Government Performance Indicators were changed in June 2017. The software used by the Authority 
was not set up to operate in the way the Indicators required the information to be captured. This has now been 
resolved and Officers are now working to the new indicators.  However, due to the overlap between the two 
ways of working the ‘Investigated in 84 days or Fewer’ figure will be low for the next few months. Please refer to 
relevant definition information at the end of this report. 

Number of 
new cases 
received

InvestigatedA 
in 84 days or 

fewer

Investigated 
in more 
than 84 

days

Resolved in 
180 days or 

fewer

Resolved in 
more than 
180 days

May
2019

10 12 3 6 5

WG Performance Indicators
Number of 
new cases 
received

Investigated1 
in 84 days or 

fewer

Investigated 
in more 
than 84 

days

Average 
time taken 
(days) from 
investigation 
complete to 

positive 
action2 
taken

Closed

May 2020 8 2 2 0 3

June 2020 13 6 4 55.75 11

July 2020 19 5 0 0 8

August 2020 8 4 2 0 5

September 
2020

1 6 1 0 4

October 2020 4 7 1 0 0

November 
2020

8 0 4 104 6

Current Cases 

Current Cases 
(under 180 days)

Backlog Cases (over 
180 days)

Total Cases

May
2019

31 79 110

Page 53

ENC8Item 8



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Planning, Access, and Rights of Way Committee
Planning Enforcement Figures

Page 2 of 3

Current Cases 
(under 84 days)

Current Cases (over 84 
days)

Total Cases

May 2020 23 86 109

June 2020 32 86 118

July 2020 35 89 124

August 2020 29 98 127

September 2020 Not run Not run Not run

October 2020 Not run Not run Not run

November 2020 10 118 128

Relevant Definitions 

1Investigated means that the Authority has considered the alleged breach of planning control and advised the 
complainant of the investigation findings which will be one of the following:

i) No breach has occurred or breach has been removed;
ii) Breach has occurred but Authority has formally determined that enforcement action is not expedient;
iii) Enforcement action is expedient and delegated report authorising such has been signed off;
iv) Receipt of valid planning application;
v) Breach has occurred and enforcement action would be expedient but informal negotiations have agreed 

that changes can make the development acceptable or that it will be removed.

2Positive Action means the complainant has been advised that one of the following has occurred following the 
conclusion that it would be expedient to enforce against the established breach. 

i) There has been a formal determination that a breach is expedient but informal negotiation subsequently 
removes the breach;

ii) An Enforcement Notice is issued. An Enforcement Notice includes a Stop Notice, Breach of Condition 
Notice, Enforcement Warning Notice, Untidy Land Notice (section 215 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990), any type of Listed Building Enforcement Notice, Tree Replacement Notice, 
Hedgerow Replacement Notice or Completion Notice, but does not include a Planning Contravention 
Notice, Section 330 Notice (of the Town and Country  Planning Act 1990), Temporary Stop Notice or 
Requisition for Information;

iii) Planning permission is subsequently granted through an application or enforcement appeal;
iv) A prosecution is brought (with the date that the case is first heard deemed as being the ‘positive 

action’ date); or
v) Direct action by the Authority removes the breach.

NB.  This figure has yet to be benchmarked and a target set by Welsh Government

Closed means the case has been closed either because the outcome of the investigation was i) or ii) above or 
the breach has ceased following positive action. 

Page 54



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority
Planning, Access, and Rights of Way Committee
Planning Enforcement Figures

Page 3 of 3

A The previous definition of ‘investigated’ meant that the Authority had visited, drawn a conclusion on what action 
was to be taken and had informed the complainant. 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



Brecon Beacons National Park Authority

Internal Reporting: Planning Performance Figures

From: 01 November 2020 to 30 November 2020

APPROVALS
GRANTED REFUSED %APPROVED
51 3 94
8 WEEK PERFORMANCE
Under8Weeks  Over8Weeks 8Wks%
37 17 69
HOUSEHOLDER 8 WEEK PERFORMANCE
Under8Weeks Over8Weeks 8Wks%
16 5 76
AGREED EXTENSIONS PERFORMANCE
AEunder AEover AE%
30 0 100
AGE OF APPLICATIONS
>8Wks >13Wks  >16Wks >2Yrs
49 42 28 2

Analysis of applications on hand

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDDecember
2019 35 29 82.9 56 109

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDJanuary
2020 57 41 71.9 42 111

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDFebruary
2020 67 47 70.1 30 144

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDMarch
2020 47 31 66 30 151

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDApril
2020 32 29 90.6 52 121

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDMay
2020 35 33 94.3 27 115

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDJune
2020 58 52 89.7 27 142

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDJuly
2020 57 43 75.4 35 154

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDAugust
2020 68 60 88.2 43 171

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDSeptember
2020 25 24 96.0 22 175

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDOctober
2020 47 44 93.6 23 195

RECEIVED ONLINE ONLINE% DECIDED ON HANDNovember
2020 60 46 76.7 54 198

Page 57

ENC8Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



BRECON BEACONS NATIONAL PARK AUTHORITY

TREE PRESERVATION ORDER 47, 2020 YEW TREE
PORTHMAWR LODGE, CRICKHOWELL

Reference: TPO 47, 2020 (following Conservation Area Notification No: 20/18667/TRCA)

Committee Report

RELEVANT POLICIES
 Strategic Policy 1: “National Park Policy” (Local Development Plan 2013)
 Strategic Policy 3: “Environmental Protection” (Local Development Plan 2013)
 Strategic Policy 10: “Sustainable Distribution of Development” (Local Development Plan 

2013)
 Policy 8: “Trees and Development” (Local Development Plan 2013)
 Policy 9: “Ancient Woodland and veteran trees” (Local Development Plan 2013)
 Policy 19: “Development affecting Conservation Areas” (Local Development Plan 2013)
 TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)
 TAN 10: “Tree Preservation Orders” (1997) 

ADDITIONAL CONSIDERATIONS 
 Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
 Town and Country Planning (Trees) Regulations 1999 
 Town and Country Planning (Trees) (Amendment) (Wales) Regulations 2012 
 Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) Order 2012 
 Town and Country Planning (Trees) (Amendment) (Wales) Regulations 2017 
 Section 6.4.25 of Planning Policy Wales – Edition 10 (December 2018):

‘Planning authorities should protect trees, hedgerows, groups of trees and areas of woodland where they 
have ecological value, contribute to the character or amenity of a particular locality, or perform a beneficial 
and identified green infrastructure function.’

PLANNING HISTORY

App Ref Description Decision Date
20/18667/TRCA Cut down a yew tree. The root of 

the tree is now causing a large 
crack to our wall

Implement TPO 47, 2020 17th July 2020

Page 59

ENC9Item 1



Tree Preservation Order History:
 Conservation area notification (20/18667/TRCA) was received by this authority on 10th June 

2020 notifying the authority of the intent to cut down a yew tree due to concerns that the trees 
was the cause of a large crack in the adjacent boundary wall. 

 A site visit was carried out by the National Park Authority Tree Consultant and the tree was 
evaluated in relation to:
 The character and appearance of the tree and surrounding area
 Justification for the proposed felling 

 The recommendation was that the proposed removal of the tree would be harmful to the 
character and appearance of the area and there has been insufficient justification provided to 
support removal.

 Accordingly, a Tree Preservation Order was recommended and was provisionally implemented 
on 17th July 2020

TPO 47, 2020 Consultation responses received by this authority:
 1 no. Objection received 
 1 no. Observation received Janet Poole – Heritage Officer

Key points of Objections to TPO:
1. Limited view from road
2. Low amenity value
3. No significant impact on local environment 
4. Cannot be enjoyed by public
5. Does not have any intrinsic beauty or contribution to the landscape
6. Tree is causing structural damage to wall 
7. Wall is irreplaceable
8. Liability for damage to wall or surrounding area.

Comments on objections raised:
In respect of Issue 1. Limited view from road
 It is acknowledged that there are other trees and shrubs in proximity to the tree that restrict 

the view, as well as adjacent buildings; however, the longevity of Yew is such that it will continue 
to contribute to the area for the long term, and as it continues to grow and other trees and 
shrubs decline visual amenity will increase.  

In respect of Issue 2. Low amenity value
 The Arboricultural Association publishes a guide to the life expectancy of common trees, which 

includes a theoretical lifespan for Yew of 300 years or more; which is greater than any other 
tree species. 

 If the tree is protected and managed it has the potential to provide amenity value and tree cover 
in the area for the long term. The visual amenity of the tree is reduced by the adjacent trees; 
however, the yew has the potential to outlive the adjacent trees and continue to grow and 
improve in terms of amenity value.  

 Even if the tree were not visible to the public; it would not prevent the tree from being 
considered when it has the potential to be a benefit to amenity in the present or future.  

Page 60



In respect of Issue 3. No significant impact on local environment
 The removal of the tree would have a significant impact on the local environment as it is a tree 

species associated with historic buildings, it has the potential to add to the treescape in the 
immediate area for the long term and will also add to the ecological potential of the area.

In respect of Issue 4. Cannot be enjoyed by public
 The tree is adjacent to the main public throughroad of Crickhowell and a public footpath. 
 It is acknowledged that there are other trees and shrubs in proximity to the tree that restrict 

the view; however, the longevity of Yew is such that it will continue to contribute to the area 
for the long term ,and as it continues to grow and other trees and shrubs decline visual amenity 
will increase. 

 The tree is also located within the garden of Porthmawr lodge, which adds to the setting of the 
tree and building when viewed from public areas. 

In respect of Issue 5. Does not have any intrinsic beauty or contribution to the landscape
 This would be a subjective matter; however, it is possible to consider the tree against criteria 

set out in terms of assessing tree preservation orders and the tree is considered worthy of 
protection; namely: 
 Visibility 
 Individual impact 
 Wider impact

In respect of Issue 6. Tree is causing structural damage to wall
 The wall shows cracks spaced along an approximate length of 6m.
 When viewing the wall from the neighbouring side there are signs of disturbance to the fabric 

of the wall, along with some repairs also visible; however, the repairs do not appear to have 
‘re-opened’ so it is unknown whether these cracks are dynamic at the moment or whether 
they are remnants caused by the previous tree now removed.

 The objection states ‘the wall drops down to approximately 12ft onto our Neighbours…’;however, 
when viewing the tree and section of wall in question the difference between ground levels 
immediately adjacent to the tree appears to be approximately 200 mm. 

 The wall height on the tree side being approximately 1600 mm and the opposite side of the 
wall approximately 1800 mm. 

 The concerns over the significant drop would therefore not be a consideration in this matter.
 The tree also appears to be under good management by the neighbouring property; with the 

crown showing maintenance to minimise nuisance whilst allowing a natural shape.
 The original conservation area notification (20/18667/TRCA) included a covering email which 

stated:  ‘…cannot afford to pay for any surveyors when the pictures clearly shows the reason why the 
tree needs to be cut down.’

 The lack of a detailed survey makes it difficult to categorically identify the Yew tree as the 
reason for the cracks in the wall as there is an historic stump present on site with many of the 
cracks suggesting a foci towards this feature; however, this cannot be assumed without 
investigation. 

 If a detailed inspection identifies the tree as the cause of the damage to the wall; there are 
measures to identified alternative engineering methods of retaining the wall and the tree, 
rather than the removal of one or the other; such as: 
 Bridged the rooting area through the implementation of a lintelled section to achieve a 

bridged gap between the wall and the root system
 Implementing rooting barriers to prevent future disturbancePage 61



In respect of Issue 7. Wall is irreplaceable
 The objection refers to the wall being irreplaceable and over 100 years old. 
 In order to assess the wall in terms of historical importance to the area, the BBNPA Heritage 

Officer was consulted and concluded that although the garden wall on the north side of 
Porthmawr is an attractive stone wall which clearly has significance to the owners and is also 
visually appealing for the neighbouring property, the garden boundary wall along the northern 
boundary of Porthmawr Lodge is not part of the listed wall.

 If a detailed inspection identifies the tree as the cause of the damage to the wall; there are 
measures to identified alternative engineering methods of retaining the wall and the tree, 
rather than the removal of one or the other.

In respect of Issue 8.
 The trees remain the responsibility of the owner regardless of a TPO being placed on the trees. 
 If there are concerns for the structural integrity of the wall; it would be the responsibility of the 

owner to employ an arboricultural specialist or engineering specialist to provide a report on 
the condition o f the wall, along with advisements.  

TPO assessment:
Although the visual aesthetics of a tree is subjective, the objective guidelines for implementing a Tree 
Preservation Order are all sufficiently met by the tree in question; taking into account the following 
criteria:
  
Visibility 
 The tree is located in a garden area immediately adjacent to the main through road of 

Crickhowell with a footpath running parallel to the road on the opposite side to the site. 
 The tree can be viewed in an approximate arc of 160o from the public vantage point; however, 

it is agreed that the view is intermittent through partial obscuring by the adjacent trees and 
shrubs.

 The life expectancy of Yew will result in the tree remaining as a visual feature in the long term; 
becoming more prominent as it continues to grow.

Individual impact
 The tree is currently a medium sized specimen that is likely to continue to establish to provide 

amenity value for the foreseeable future based upon the Arboricultural Association which 
publishes a guide to the life expectancy of common trees, which includes a theoretical lifespan 
for Yew of 300 years or more.

 The tree is of a species that will have a significant life expectancy and is showing good health and 
vigour when viewed from the neighbouring side to suggest recovery over time could be expected.

Wider impact 
 Yew are traditional features in Wales and this articular specimen is noticeable as being located in 

a position that is adjacent to public areas.
 It is not considered to be impeding the potential of other trees as there are no other significant 

specimens in proximity in which it may be impeding. 
 General management of the trees should ensure the long term retention without compromising 

the form and amenity value.

Recommendation:
 That Tree Preservation Order TPO47, 2020 be confirmed Page 62



P
age 63



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SCHEDULE 12A LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972
EXEMPTION FROM DISCLOSURE OF DOCUMENTS

REPORTS: Delegated Decision Enforcement Reports 

AUTHORS: Enforcement Officers

MEETING AND DATE OF 
MEETING:

Planning, Access and Rights of Way Committee
15th December 2020

I have considered grounds for exemption of information contained in the report referred to 
above and make the following recommendation to the Proper Officer:-

Exemptions applying to the report:

 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of a particular person
 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with the 

prevention, investigation, or prosecution of crime. 

Factors in favour of disclosure:

 Facilitate the accountability and transparency of our decisions; 
 Facilitate accountability and transparency in the spending of public money; 
 Allow individuals to understand decisions made by the authority

Prejudice which would result if the information were disclosed:

 Disclose the identity of individuals prior to a decision being taken whether or not to 
take action – causing unnecessary concern to the individual and public opprobrium if 
proceedings are not pursued.

 Prejudice potential judicial proceedings

Page 65

ENC10Item 1



My view on the public interest test is as follows:

I have considered the enforcement cases contained within the aforementioned reports to 
be presented to PAROW on the 15th December 2020 and have measured each case 
against the public interest test.  For the reasons outlined above, I consider that the factors 
in favour of disclosure are outweighed by those against. 

Recommended decision on exemption from disclosure:

For the reasons set out above, it is recommended that the information contained within 
these enforcement reports is exempt from disclosure.

Date:  1st December 2020

Signed:    

Post:  Principal Planning Officer

I accept the recommendation made above.

 Proper Officer

Date: 1st December 2020

Page 66



Document is Restricted

Page 67

ENC10Item 2
By virtue of paragraph(s) 13, 14, 17, 18 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	ENC4 Confirmed Minutes LAF 10th meeting 20th February 2020
	ENC5 Minutes of last meeting
	ENC6 Minutes of the Virtual Site Visit held on the 7th October 2020
	ENC7Item 1 20/18999/MINOR Bailea Barn
	ENC7Item 2 20/19000/DISCON Bailea Barn
	ENC8Item 1 Delegated Decisions Report
	ENC8Item 2 Agricultural Notifications
	ENC8Item 3 Fringe Applications
	ENC8Item 4 Statutory Pre-applications Consultation
	ENC8Item 5 Appeals Report
	ENC8Item 6 Planning Obligation Report
	ENC8Item 7 Commuted Sums Report
	ENC8Item 8 Enforcement November 2020 figures
	ENC8Item 9 Development Management Statistics Nov 2020
	ENC9Item 1 Tree Preservation Order 47, 2020 Yew Tree, Porthmawr Lodge, Crickhowell
	ENC10Item 1 Exemption Certificate Enforcement Delegated Decision Reports
	ENC10Item 2 Enforcement Delegated Decisions - CONFIDENTIAL

